



Can Fin Homes Ltd
(Sponsor: **CANARA BANK**)
HOME LOANS ♦ DEPOSITS
Translating Dreams into Reality

NOMINATION REMUNERATION AND HR POLICY

Sl. No.	Particulars	Details
1	Owner Department of the Policy	Board Secretariat Department
2	Version number	Version 13
3	Validity of the Policy	Till next revision
4	Periodicity of review	On annual basis
5	Last Review Date	18-03-2023

Contents

1.	Preamble	3
2.	Constituents of the Nomination, Remuneration & HR Policy	3
	Annexure- 1: Constitution and Charter of Nomination, Remuneration & HR Committee	6
	Annexure- 2: Fit and Proper Criteria for the Directors as per the RBI HFC DIRECTIONS	8
	Annexure-3: Declaration and Undertaking by the Director (With Enclosures)	9
	Annexure- 4: Form of Deed of Covenants with a Director	12
	Annexure- 5: Provisions for Appointment and Removal of Directors.....	16
	Annexure- 6: Provisions for Appointment and Removal of Senior Management Personnel.....	18
	Annexure- 7: Remuneration/ Compensation Policy	19

NOMINATION REMUNERATION & HR COMMITTEE

1. Preamble

As per the Companies Act 2013, the Board of Directors ("**Board**") every listed company is required to constitute a Nomination, Remuneration & HR Committee. Further, such a company is required to have a Nomination, Remuneration & HR Policy duly approved by its Board and get the same displayed on the company's website.

The Nomination, Remuneration & HR Committee ("**NRC**") of **Can Fin Homes Limited** ("**the Company**" or "**our Company**" or "**CFHL**") has been duly constituted by the Company's Board in their meeting held on June 04, 2014 in compliance with Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 read along with the applicable rules thereto (hereinafter referred to as "**the Act**"). ~~The Nomination Remuneration & HR Committee recommends the present policy to the Board of Directors in compliance with Section 178(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 read along with the applicable rules thereto.~~

Further, being a Housing Finance Company ("**HFC**"), the Company is also required to comply with various directions/ circulars prescribed by the Reserve Bank of India ("**RBI**") including applicable provisions of the Non-Banking Financial Company- Housing Finance Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2021 ("**RBI HFC Directions**"). In accordance with paragraph 50.2 of the RBI HFC Directions, in addition to constitution of the NRC, the Company is required to put in place a policy to ensure 'fit and proper' status of proposed/ existing directors and proper framework in relation to remuneration of directors, Key Managerial Personnel and senior management personnel. In this regard, the RBI has also prescribed 'Guidelines on Compensation of Key Managerial Personnel ("**KMP**") and Senior Management in NBFCs' vide its circular dated April 29, 2022 ("**RBI Guidelines**").

2. Constituents of the Nomination, Remuneration & HR Policy

The Nomination, Remuneration Policy shall have two components:

A. Nomination Policy- The following aspects shall be covered within the ambit and scope of the Nomination Policy:

- i) The constitution of the Nomination, Remuneration & HR Committee ("**NRC**") shall be as defined in the **Annexure-1**.
- ii) The NRC shall lay down basic criteria for selection and to identify persons who are qualified to become Directors of the Company. Formulation of such criteria shall be aimed at determining qualifications, expertise, track record, integrity, positive attributes, independence of a Director and other 'fit and proper' criteria. The NRC shall ensure 'fit and proper' criteria of the directors, as detailed in the **Annexure-2** in terms with Chapter IX on Corporate Governance under the RBI HFC Directions, at the time of appointment and on a continuing basis.
- iii) The NRC shall review the information, declarations and undertakings given by the existing and proposed Director(s) giving additional information in the format as prescribed in the **Annexure-3** in terms with Chapter IX on Corporate Governance under the RBI HFC Directions and the Chairman of NRC shall authenticate the same.
- iv) The NRC shall ensure that the deed of covenants is signed by each of the Directors in the format as prescribed in the **Annexure-4**. ~~and approved by the Board pursuant to his/her terms of appointment.~~
- v) Whenever a new director is to be inducted, then NRC shall review the profile of such candidate and evaluate his/ her credentials against the laid down criteria to establish that the candidate is 'fit and proper' for the position for which he/ she is being considered.

- vi) The appointment, renewal, re-appointment including extension or continuation of the term of appointment, re-categorisation and/or removal of the Directors shall be recommended by NRC to the Board in accordance with laid down criteria as detailed in the **Annexure-5**. ~~The appointment, renewal, re-appointment, re-categorisation and/or removal of the Directors identified in accordance with laid down criteria, including extension or continuation of the term of appointment (Annexure 5), shall be recommended by NRC to the Board.~~ The term 'Director' used in this policy shall carry the same meaning as defined under Companies Act, 2013 and include independent director.
- vii) The NRC shall review the criteria laid down under the CFHL service regulations/ HRM Policy/ Promotion Policy for selection of employees for Senior Management of the Company. Further, it shall also lay down criteria for direct selection of candidates for Senior Management positions wherever required. Further, wherever required, the NRC shall review a proposal for removal of such Senior Management Personnel and ensure that the same is noted by the Board. The NRC shall also review the proposal for appointment or removal of any KMP and recommend to the Board for their consideration in accordance with Rule 8 of the Companies (Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014.
- viii) Determination of broad guidelines for appointment and/ or removal/ retirement of Senior Managerial Personnel and Key Managerial Personnel as detailed in the **Annexure-6**.
- ix) The NRC shall also review the information in terms of the RBI Guidelines.

B. Remuneration/ Compensation Policy

- i) The Remuneration/ Compensation Policy shall among other things cover remuneration for the Directors at periodical intervals. Further, it shall review the remuneration/ salary/ perquisites for directly recruited Senior Management Personnel, Key Management Personnel and all other regular employees governed by CFHL service regulations at the intervals as per guidelines laid down in the HRM policy and recommend to the Board.
- ii) However, in the case of the Managing Director, deputed from the Sponsor Bank, the Remuneration, perquisites and other entitlements shall be applicable as per norms laid down by the Sponsor Bank. In respect of appointment of the Managing Director from the market, the NRC shall recommend salary/ remuneration/ compensation/perquisites etc. to the Board.
- iii) Incentive programmes/ schemes/ performance based benefits/employee stock option scheme (ESOP) etc. shall be framed and recommended to the Board by the NRC.
- iv) The broad guidelines of the Remuneration Policy have been provided in **Annexure-7**.

C. Definitions-

In this policy, unless stated otherwise or unless repugnant to the context, the following terms shall have the meanings as ascribed hereunder:

(a) Key Managerial Personnel: Key Managerial Personnel means and includes:

- (i) Chief Executive Officer or the Managing Director or the Manager;
- (ii) Whole-time director duly appointed by the Board;
- (iii) Chief Financial Officer; and
- (iv) Company Secretary.

(b) 'Senior Management' or 'Senior Management Personnel': It means personnel of the Company who are members of its core management team excluding the Board of Directors. This would include all members of management one level below the Managing Director/ Whole-Time Director/ General Manager including all functional heads. The General Manager, Deputy

General Manager(s), Assistant General Manager(s) and Chief Manager(s) of the Company shall be considered to be functional heads for the purpose of this policy.

- D. Review of the Policy-** The Nomination, Remuneration Policy shall be reviewed on annual basis by the Nomination, Remuneration & HR Committee of the Board and recommend to Board for adoption.
-

Annexure- 1: Constitution and Charter of Nomination, Remuneration & HR Committee

1. Objective

The Nomination Remuneration & HR Committee ("**NRC**") is a committee of the Board of Directors of the Company constituted in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, the RBI HFC Directions and other statutory/ requirements. The NRC has been authorised by the Board to assist it in fulfilling its statutory, fiduciary and regulatory responsibilities. It has the authority and power to exercise the role and responsibilities set out in this charter and such other roles and responsibilities. The Committee shall as per this charter and as per the policy approved by the Board have primary objective of identifying persons who are qualified to become directors, senior management etc. and recommend the same to the Board. The NRC shall formulate the policy for determining qualifications, positive attributes and independence of Director and their remuneration, Key managerial personnel and other employees.

2. Composition of the NRC

- (a)** The Committee shall consist of a minimum 3 non-executive directors.
- (b)** all directors of the committee shall be non-executive directors and At least ~~fifty percent~~ two-thirds of the NRC members shall be independent directors.
- (c)** The Chairperson of the committee shall be an independent director.
- (d)** The Chairperson of the Company, whether executive or non-executive, may be appointed as a member of NRC and shall not chair the Committee.
- (e)** The Company Secretary of the Company shall act as Secretary of the Committee.

3. Quorum of the NRC:

- (a)** The quorum shall be either two members or one third of the members of the committee, whichever is greater, including atleast one independent director in attendance.
- (b)** The Chairperson of the NRC may be present at the annual general meeting, to answer the shareholders' queries; however, it shall be up to the chairperson to decide who shall answer the queries.

4. Frequency of Meetings of the NRC:

The meeting of the Committee shall be held as and when required. Minimum one meeting shall be held in a financial year.

5. Roles and Responsibilities of the NRC shall be as under:

- (a)** Formulate the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and independence of a director and recommend to the board of directors a policy relating to, the remuneration of the directors, key managerial personnel and other employees.

For every appointment of an independent director, the NRC shall evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board and on the basis of such evaluation, prepare a description of the role and capabilities required of an independent director.

The person recommended to the Board for appointment as an independent director shall have the capabilities identified in such description. For the purpose of identifying suitable candidates, the Committee may:

- (i)** use the services of an external agencies, if required;
- (ii)** consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds, having due regard to

- diversity;and
- (iii) consider the time commitments of the candidates.
- (b) Formulate the criteria for evaluation of performance of independent directors and the Board of Directors.
- (c) Devise a policy on diversity of the Board of Directors.
- (d) Identify persons who are qualified to become directors and who may be appointed in senior management in accordance with the criteria laid down, and recommend to the board of directors their appointment and removal.
- (e) Consider whether to extend or continue the term of appointment of the independent director, on the basis of the report of performance evaluation of independent directors.
- (f) Carry out evaluation of every director's performance.
- (g) Recommend to the Board a policy, relating to the remuneration for the directors, key managerial personnel, senior management personnel and other employees.
- (h) Carry out additional functions as is contained in the SEBI (LODR) or other regulatory requirements applicable to the Company.
- (i) While formulating the policy the NRC shall ensure that:
- (i) the level and composition of remuneration is reasonable and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate directors of the quality required to run the company successfully;
 - (ii) relationship of remuneration to performance is clear and meets appropriate performance benchmarks; and
 - (iii) remuneration to directors, key managerial personnel and senior management personnel involves a balance between fixed and incentive pay reflecting short and long-term performance objectives appropriate to the working of the company and its goals:
- (j) Such policy shall be placed on the website of the Company, if any, and the salient features of the policy and changes therein, if any, along with the web address of the Policy, if any, shall be disclosed in the Board's report.

~~Senior Management: The expression 'Senior Management' means personnel of the Company who are members of its core management team excluding Board of Directors comprising all members of management one level below the executive directors, including the functional heads.~~

Annexure- 2: Fit and Proper Criteria for the Directors as per the RBI HFC DIRECTIONS

The Company, while appointing directors, shall ensure that below mentioned policy guidelines are adhered by it:

- (a) The Company shall undertake a process of due diligence to determine the suitability of the person for appointment/ continuing to hold appointment as a director on the Board, based upon qualification, expertise, track record, integrity and other 'fit and proper' criteria.
- (b) The Company shall obtain necessary information and declaration from the proposed/ existing directors for the purpose in the format appended with this **Annexure-2**.
- (c) The process of due diligence should be undertaken by the Company at the time of appointment / renewal of appointment.
- (d) The Boards of the Company shall constitute the NRC to scrutinize the declarations.
- (e) Based on the information provided in the signed declaration, the NRC should decide on the acceptance or otherwise of the Directors, where considered necessary.
- (f) The Company shall obtain annually, as on 31st March, a simple declaration from the directors that the information already provided has not undergone change and where there is any change, requisite details are furnished by them forthwith as per the particulars mentioned at **Annexure-3**.
- (g) The Company will ensure that a '**Deed of Covenant**' is executed with the nominated/ elected directors as per the format given in **Annexure-4**.

Annexure-3: Declaration and Undertaking by the Director (With Enclosures)

Name of the Company: **Can Fin Homes Ltd.**

DECLARATION AND UNDERTAKING BY THE DIRECTOR (WITH ENCLOSURES)		
I)	Personal Details of the Director	
(a)	Full name	
(b)	Date of Birth	
(c)	Educational Qualifications	
(d)	Relevant Background and Experience	
(e)	Permanent Address	
(f)	Present Address	
(g)	E-mail Address / Telephone Number	
(h)	Director Identification Number	
(i)	Permanent Account Number under the Income Tax Act and name and address of Income Tax Circle	
(j)	Relevant knowledge and experience	
(k)	Any other information relevant to Directorship of the Company	
II)	Relevant Relationships of director	
(a)	List of Relatives of the director, if any, who are connected with the Company (<i>As per Section 2(77) of the Companies Act, 2013</i>)	
(b)	List of entities if any in which the director is considered as being interested (<i>As per Section 184 of the Companies Act, 2013</i>)	
(c)	List of entities in which the director is considered as holding substantial interest ¹ within the meaning of the RBI HFC Directions	<i>As per Annexure 3(a)</i>
(d)	Name of the HFC(s) in which the director is or has been a member of the board (giving details of period during which such office was held)	<i>As per Annexure 3(b)</i>
(e)	Fund and non-fund facilities, if any, presently availed of by the director and/ or by entities listed in Paras II(b) and II(c) above from the Company	<i>As per Annexure 3(c)</i>
(f)	Cases, if any, where the director or entities listed in Paras II(b) and II(c) above are in default or have been in default in the past in respect of credit facilities obtained from the Company or any other HFC or a bank	<i>As per Annexure 3(d)</i>
III)	Records of professional achievements	
(a)	Relevant professional achievements	
IV)	Proceedings, if any, against the director	
(a)	If the director is a member of a professional association/ body, details of disciplinary action, if any, pending or commenced or resulting in conviction in the past against him/her or whether he/she has been banned from entry into any profession/ occupation at any	

¹ **'Substantial Interest'** means: Holding of beneficial interest by an individual or his/ her spouse or minor child, whether singly or taken together, in shares of Company/ Capital of Firm, the amount paid up on which exceeds 10 percent of paid up capital of the Company or total capital subscribed by all the partners of partnership firm.

	time	
(b)	Details of prosecution, if any, pending or commenced or resulting in conviction in the past against the director and/or against any of the entities listed in Paras II(b) and II(c) above for violation of economic laws and regulations	
(c)	Details of criminal prosecution, if any, pending or commenced or resulting in conviction in the last five years against the director	
(d)	Whether the director attracts any of the disqualifications envisaged under Section 274 of the Companies Act 1956 and corresponding provisions of the Companies Act, 2013?	
(e)	Has the director or any of the entities at Paras II(b) and II(c) above been subject to any investigation at the instance of Government department or agency?	
(f)	Has the director at any time been found guilty of violation of rules/ regulations/ legislative requirements by customs/ excise /income tax/ foreign exchange /other revenue authorities, if so give particulars	
(g)	Whether the director has at any time come to the adverse notice of a regulator such as SEBI, IRDA, and MCA (<i>Though it shall not be necessary for a director to mention in the column about orders and findings made by the regulators which have been later on reversed/set aside in toto, it would be necessary to make a mention of the same, in case the reversal/setting aside is on technical reasons like limitation or lack of jurisdiction, etc and not on merit, If the order of the regulator is temporarily stayed and the appellate/ court proceedings are pending, the same also should be mentioned.</i>)	
V)	Any other explanation / information in regard to items I to III and other information considered relevant for judging fit and proper	

Undertaking

I confirm that the above information is to the best of my knowledge and belief true and complete. I undertake to keep the Company fully informed, as soon as possible, of all events which take place subsequent to my appointment which are relevant to the information provided above.

I also undertake to execute the deed of covenant required to be executed by all directors of the Company.

Signature:

Place:

Name:

Date:

DIN:

VI) Remarks of Chairman of the Nomination Committee/ Board of Directors of the Company

Signature:

Place:

Name:

Date:

Annexure 3(a)

List of entities in which the director is holding substantial interest (10% individually/jointly) within the meaning of HFC (NHB) Directions, 2010 as on _____

Sl. No.	Name of the Entity	No. of Shares held

Annexure 3(b)

Name of HFC in which the director is or has been a member of the board (giving details of period during which such office was held) as on _____

Sl. No.	Name of Company	Period	
		From	To

Annexure 3(c)

Fund and Non-Fund facilities, if any, presently availed of by the director and/or by entities listed at Paras II(b) and II(c) in table under Annexure 3 from the Company as on _____

Sl. No.	Facility	Fund/Non-Fund

Annexure 3(d)

Cases, if any, where the director or entities listed at Paras II(b) and II(c) in table under Annexure 3 above are in default or have been in default in the past in respect of credit facilities obtained from the Company or any other HFC or a Bank as on _____

Sl. No.	Case	Status

Annexure- 4: Form of Deed of Covenants with a Director

(On stamp paper of requisite value)

Form of Deed of Covenants with a Director

THIS DEED OF COVENANTS is made this day ofTwo Thousand.....BETWEEN.....having its registered office at(hereinafter called the "HFC") of the one part and Mr/Ms..... of (hereinafter called the "Director") of the other part.

WHEREAS

- A. The Director has been appointed as a director on the Board of Directors of the HFC (hereinafter called "the Board") and is required as a term of his/her appointment to enter into a Deed of Covenants with the HFC.
- B. The Director has agreed to enter into this Deed of Covenants, which has been approved by the Board, pursuant to his/her said terms of appointment.

NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED AND THIS DEED OF COVENANTS WITNESSETH AS FOLLOWS:

1. The Director acknowledges that his/ her appointment as Director on the Board of the HFC is subject to applicable laws and regulations including the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the HFC and the provisions of this Deed of Covenants.
2. The Director covenants with the HFC that:
 - i) The Director shall disclose to the Board the nature of his / her interest, direct or indirect, if he / she has any interest in or is concerned with a contract or arrangement or any proposed contract or arrangement entered into or to be entered into between the HFC and any other person, immediately upon becoming aware of the same or at meeting of the Board at which the question of entering into such contract or arrangement is taken into consideration or if the director was not at the date of that meeting concerned or interested in such proposed contract or arrangement, then at the first meeting of the Board held after he / she becomes so concerned or interested and in case of any other contract or arrangement, the required disclosure shall be made at the first meeting of the Board held after the director becomes concerned or interested in the contract or arrangement.
 - ii) The Director shall disclose by general notice to the Board his / her other directorships, his / her memberships of bodies corporate, his / her interest in other entities and his / her interest as a partner or proprietor of firms and shall keep the Board apprised of all changes therein.
 - iii) The Director shall provide to the HFC a list of his / her relatives as defined in the Companies Act, 1956 or 2013 and to the extent the director is aware of directorships and interests of such relatives in other bodies' corporate, firms and other entities.
 - iv) The Director shall in carrying on his / her duties as director of the HFC:
 - (a) use such degree of skill as may be reasonable to expect from a person with his / her knowledge or experience;
 - (b) in the performance of his / her duties take such care as he / she might be reasonably expected to take on his / her own behalf and exercise any power vested in him / her in good faith and in the interests of the HFC;

- (c) shall keep himself / herself informed about the business, activities and financial status of the HFC to the extent disclosed to him / her;
 - (d) attend meetings of the Board and Committees thereof (collectively for the sake of brevity hereinafter referred to as "Board") with fair regularity and conscientiously fulfil his / her obligations as director of the HFC;
 - (e) shall not seek to influence any decision of the Board for any consideration other than in the interests of the HFC;
 - (f) shall bring independent judgment to bear on all matters affecting the HFC brought before the Board including but not limited to statutory compliances, performance reviews, compliances with internal control systems and procedures, key executive appointments and standards of conduct;
 - (g) shall in exercise of his / her judgement in matters brought before the Board or entrusted to him / her by the Board be free from any business or other relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of his / her independent judgement; and
 - (h) shall express his / her views and opinions at Board meetings without any fear or favour and without any influence on exercise of his / her independent judgement;
- v) The Director shall have:
- (a) fiduciary duty to act in good faith and in the interests of the HFC and not for any collateral purpose;
 - (b) duty to act only within the powers as laid down by the HFC's Memorandum and Articles of Association and by applicable laws and regulations; and
 - (c) duty to acquire proper understanding of the business of the HFC.
- vi) The Director shall:
- (a) not evade responsibility in regard to matters entrusted to him / her by the Board;
 - (b) not interfere in the performance of their duties by the whole-time Directors and other officers of the HFC and wherever the director has reasons to believe otherwise, he / she shall forthwith disclose his / her concerns to the Board; and
 - (c) not make improper use of information disclosed to him / her as a member of the Board for his / her or someone else's advantage or benefit and shall use the information disclosed to him / her by the HFC in his / her capacity as director of the HFC only for the purposes of performance of his / her duties as a director and not for any other purpose.
 - (d) make declaration to the effect that:
 - i) he/she has not been associated with any unincorporated body that is accepting deposits;
 - ii) he/she has not been associated with any company, the application for Certificate of Registration (CoR) of which has been rejected by the National Housing Bank/ Reserve Bank of India;
 - iii) there is no criminal case, including for offence under section 138 of the Negotiable Instruments Act, against him/her.

3. The HFC covenants with the Director that:

- i) the HFC shall apprise the Director about:
 - (a) Board procedures including identification of legal and other duties of Director and required compliances with statutory obligations;
 - (b) control systems and procedures;

- (c) voting rights at Board meetings including matters in which Director should not participate because of his / her interest, direct or indirect therein;
 - (d) qualification requirements and provide copies of Memorandum and Articles of Association;
 - (e) corporate policies and procedures;
 - (f) insider dealing restrictions;
 - (g) constitution of, delegation of authority to and terms of reference of various committees constituted by the Board;
 - (h) appointments of Senior Executives and their authority;
 - (i) remuneration policy;
 - (j) deliberations of committees of the Board, and
 - (k) communicate any changes in policies, procedures, control systems, applicable regulations including Memorandum and Articles of Association of the HFC, delegation of authority, Senior Executives, etc. and appoint the compliance officer who shall be responsible for all statutory and legal compliance.
- ii) the HFC shall disclose and provide to the Board including the Director all information which is reasonably required for them to carry out their functions and duties as a director of the HFC and to take informed decisions in respect of matters brought before the Board for its consideration or entrusted to the director by the Board or any committee thereof;
 - iii) the disclosures to be made by the HFC to the Directors shall include but not be limited to the following:
 - (a) all relevant information for taking informed decisions in respect of matters brought before the Board;
 - (b) HFC's strategic and business plans and forecasts;
 - (c) organisational structure of the HFC and delegation of authority;
 - (d) corporate and management controls and systems including procedures;
 - (e) economic features and marketing environment;
 - (f) information and updates as appropriate on HFC's products;
 - (g) information and updates on major expenditure;
 - (h) periodic reviews of performance of the HFC; *and*
 - (i) report periodically about implementation of strategic initiatives and plans.
 - iv) the HFC shall communicate outcome of Board deliberations to Directors and concerned personnel and prepare and circulate minutes of the meeting of Board to Directors in a timely manner and to the extent possible within two business days of the date of conclusion of the Board meeting; and
 - v) advise the Director about the levels of authority delegated in matters placed before the Board.
4. The HFC shall provide to the Director periodic reports on the functioning of internal control system including effectiveness thereof.
 5. The HFC shall appoint a compliance officer who shall be a senior executive reporting to the Board and be responsible for setting forth policies and procedures and shall monitor adherence to the applicable laws and regulations and policies and procedures including but not limited to directions of National Housing Bank and other concerned statutory and governmental authorities.

6. The Director shall not assign, transfer, sublet or encumber his / her office and his / her rights and obligations as director of the HFC to any third party provided that nothing herein contained shall be construed to prohibit delegation of any authority, power, function or delegation by the Board or any committee thereof subject to applicable laws and regulations including Memorandum and Articles of Association of the HFC.
7. The failure on the part of either party hereto to perform, discharge, observe or comply with any obligation or duty shall not be deemed to be a waiver thereof nor shall it operate as a bar to the performance, observance, discharge or compliance thereof at any time or times thereafter.
8. Any and all amendments and / or supplements and / or alterations to this Deed of Covenants shall be valid and effectual only if in writing and signed by the Director and the duly authorised representative of the HFC.
9. This Deed of Covenants has been executed in duplicate and both the copies shall be deemed to be originals.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF THE PARTIES HAVE DULY EXECUTED THIS AGREEMENT ON THE DAY, MONTH AND YEAR FIRST ABOVE WRITTEN.

For the HFC

For the Director

By

Name:

Name:

Title:

In the presence of:

1.....

2.

Annexure- 5: Provisions for Appointment and Removal of Directors

1. Appointment Criteria and Qualifications

- (a) The Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity, qualification, expertise and experience of the person for appointment as Director, liable to retire by rotation or an Independent Director and recommend to the Board his /her appointment.
- (b) A person should possess adequate qualification, expertise and experience to be eligible for appointment as director. The Committee has discretion to decide whether qualification, expertise and experience possessed by a person is sufficient/ satisfactory for being appointed as Director, liable to retire by rotation or an Independent Director.

The Committee also has discretion to recommend to the Board, the appointment/ re-classification of `a director liable to retire by rotation' or `an independent director in terms of Regulation 16 & 17 of the SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015 to an Independent Director under the Act'.

- (c) No person shall be eligible to be appointed as a director of the Company if he suffers from any of the disqualifications contained in Section 164 of the Companies Act, 2013 or if he is disqualified by virtue of any other Section of Companies Act, 2013 or any rules made thereunder or any regulation under the SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015.
- (d) An Independent Director shall hold office for a term of three consecutive years, on the Board of the Company and will be eligible for re-appointment on passing of a special resolution by the Company and disclosure of such appointment in the Board's report.
- (e) No Independent Director shall hold office for more than two consecutive terms of three years each but such Independent Director shall be eligible for appointment after expiry of three years (hereinafter referred to as cooling-off period) of ceasing to become an Independent Director.

Provided that an Independent Director shall not, during the cooling-off period, be appointed in or be associated with the Company in any other capacity, either directly or indirectly.

2. Board Diversity

Company shall aim to enhance the effectiveness of the Board by diversifying its composition and to obtain the benefit out of such diversity in better and improved decision making. In order to ensure that the Company's boardroom has appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that are imperative for the execution of its business strategy, the Company shall consider a number of factors, including but not limited to skills, educational qualification, industry experience, expertise, background, gender, ethnicity and physical disability. In order to ensure a balanced composition of executive, non-executive and independent directors on the Board, the Company shall consider candidates from a wide variety of backgrounds, without discrimination and based on the above factors.

The NRC of the Company shall review and assess the Board composition in terms of the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and related rules and also the provisions of listing agreement and shall recommend to the Board, the appointment of new Directors considering the benefits of diversity, but not limited to, those described above, in order to ensure effective discharge of its duties and responsibilities.

3. Evaluation

The Committee shall carry out evaluation of performance of every Director. Such an evaluation shall be carried out on yearly basis. The evaluation shall be done on the basis of the following

criteria i.e. whether Directors:

- (a) act objectively and constructively while exercising their duties;
- (b) exercise their responsibilities in a bona fide manner in the interest of the company;
- (c) devote sufficient time and attention to their professional obligations for informed and balanced decision making;
- (d) do not abuse their position to the detriment of the company or its shareholders or for the purpose of gaining direct or indirect personal advantage or advantage for any associated person;
- (e) refrain from any action that would lead to loss of his independence;
- (f) inform the Board immediately when they lose their independence;
- (g) assist the company in implementing the best corporate governance practices;
- (h) strive to attend all meetings of the Board of Directors and the Committees;
- (i) participate constructively and actively in the committees of the Board in which they are chairpersons or members;
- (j) strive to attend the general meetings of the company;
- (k) keep themselves well informed about the company and the external environment in which it operates;
- (l) do not unfairly obstruct the functioning of an otherwise proper Board or committee of the Board;
- (m) moderate and arbitrate in the interest of the company as a whole, in situations of conflict between management and shareholder's interest.
- (n) abide by Memorandum and Articles of Association, policies and procedures including code of conduct, insider trading guidelines etc. of the Company.

4. Removal

Due to reasons for any disqualification mentioned in the Act or under any other applicable statute/Acts, rules and regulations there under, the Committee may recommend to the Board with reasons recorded in writing, removal of a Director subject to the provisions and compliance of the applicable statute/Acts, rules and regulations.

5. Retirement

The Directors shall retire as per the applicable provisions of the Act and the prevailing policy of the Company. The Board will have the discretion to retain the Director in the same position/ remuneration or otherwise even after attaining the retirement age, for the benefit of the Company unless otherwise provided in the Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association and the Act or rules made thereunder.

Annexure- 6: Provisions for Appointment and Removal of Senior Management Personnel

1. Appointment

The Committee shall lay down criteria for ascertaining integrity, qualification, expertise and experience of the person for appointment as Senior Management Personnel in conjunction with provisions of HRM & promotion policy of the company as amended from time to time and recommend to Board for their due approval. The Committee shall have access to the HRM & promotion policies as well as the general/relevant background information including experience and qualification of the candidates available for selection to position of senior management.

2. Removal

Due to any disqualification mentioned in the Companies Act, 2013, rules made thereunder or under any other applicable statutes/Acts, CFHL rules and regulations as per HRM policy & CFHL service regulations, the Committee may review the performance/conduct of the senior management personnel and recommend to the Board with reasons recorded in writing for removal of Senior Management Personnel.

3. Retirement

The Senior Management Personnel shall retire as per the CFHL Staff Regulations prevailing from time to time and the provisions of Companies Act.

Annexure- 7: Remuneration/ Compensation Policy

1. Preamble/ Background

The RBI, vide notification dated April 29, 2022, has prescribed the 'Guidelines on Compensation of Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management in NBFCs' ("**RBI Guidelines**"). The RBI Guidelines are applicable for formulating the Compensation/ Remuneration Policy of Key Managerial Personnel ("**KMP**") and members of Senior Management of NBFCs in Middle Layer and NBFCs in Upper Layer.

In view of the RBI Guidelines, the existing Remuneration Policy of the Company has been reviewed to include policy guidelines for fixing the compensation/ remuneration of the Key Managerial Personnel and members of the Senior Management Personnel of the Company. In this regard, definitions of the Key Managerial Personnel ("**KMP**") and the Senior Management Personnel ("**SMP**") have been provided under Para on Definitions at Page 2 of this NR Policy.

Further, being a leading organization in the NBFC sector, some parts of the policies are being defined taking a future forward view. In this context, practices of leading banks and the RBI Guidelines for the banking sector have also been evaluated and considered.

2. Role of the Nomination, Remuneration & HR Committee ("NRC" or "Committee")

- 2.1** As mentioned at Annexure 1, the role of the NRC shall be to ensure compliance with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, the RBI HFC Directions, the RBI Guidelines and various other obligations as mentioned in the Charter of the Committee as approved by the Board of Directors from time to time.
- 2.2** As per the norms of a listed company, the Board of the company has constituted the NRC. Its role, scope and constitution has been defined and approved by the Board.
- 2.3** One of the responsibilities of the NRC is to oversee the framing, review, and implementation of the compensation practices of the organization.
- 2.4** The NRC also ensures 'fit and proper' status of proposed / existing directors and that there is no conflict of interest in appointment of directors on Board of the company and KMPs.
- 2.5** Three out of four members of the NRC are independent directors.
- 2.6** Two members of NRC are also members of the Risk Management Committee (RMC) of the Board. This ensures effective alignment between compensation and risks.
- 2.7** Constitution of the NRC is reviewed periodically by the Board.
- 2.8** The NRC, while discharging its duties, shall ensure that compensation levels are supported by the need to retain earnings of the Company and the need to maintain adequate capital based on Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process and the capital adequacy requirements, as applicable from time to time.
- 2.9** The Committee shall also ensure 'fit and proper' status of proposed/ existing directors is maintained as per the statutory/ regulatory requirements and that there shall be no conflict of interest in appointment of directors on the Board of the Company, the KMPs and the SMPs.

3. Policy Guidelines with respect to Remuneration of Directors, KMPs, SMPs and Other Employees:

- 3.1** The remuneration /compensation /commission/perquisites/benefits/facilities etc. to the Whole-time Director /Managing Director recruited from the market shall be determined by the NRC and recommend to the Board.
- 3.2** The remuneration / compensation / commission etc. shall be subject to rules laid down by the Government, wherever the same is required under the Company law or any rules made there under.
- 3.3** Such remuneration/ Compensation/ Commission, etc. or any increments thereof shall be within the statutory limits specified under the Companies Act or any rules or schedule thereto.
- 3.4** However, in the case of Managing Director/General Manager/other employees deputed from the Sponsor Bank, the Remuneration, perquisites, entitlements and other service conditions applicable to such Executives in the Sponsor Bank shall be applicable.
- 3.5** The Whole-time Director /Managing Director/Manager, as defined under the Act, shall be eligible for a monthly remuneration as may be approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Committee.
- 3.6** If, in any financial year, the Company has no profits or its profits are inadequate, the Company shall pay remuneration to its Whole-time Director/ Managing Director/Manager in accordance with the provisions of Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 and if it is not able to comply with such provisions, with the previous approval of the Central Government.
- 3.7** If any Whole-time Director/ Managing Director/Manager draws or receives, by way of remuneration from the Company any such sums in excess of the limits prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013 or without the prior sanction of the Central Government, where required, he / she shall refund such sums to the Company and until such sum is refunded, hold it in trust for the Company. The Company shall not waive recovery of such sum refundable to it unless permitted by the Central Government.
- 3.8** The Director, including an Independent Director may receive remuneration by way of fees for attending meetings of Board or Committee thereof. The sitting fees for attending the Board meeting shall be Rs.50,000/- and for attending Committee meeting shall be Rs.30,000/- for the present and Rs 10,000 will be paid additional fees to the Chairman of the Board/Committee. Any increase in the sitting fees shall be recommended by the NRC to the Board for approval.
- 3.9** The directors shall be entitled for the expenses on travel, accommodation & local transport for attending the above meetings on terms as applicable to Managing Director.
- 3.10** The remuneration / compensation / commission etc. including its break-up payable will be recommended by the NRC to the Board for approval.
- 3.11** The remuneration / compensation / commission/ incentive etc. including its break-up payable to the senior management personnel, Key Management Personnel and all other regular employees as payable under CFHL service regulations shall be subject to review by the NRC at the intervals as per guidelines laid down in HRM policy. The Board shall be guided by the recommendations and suggestions of the NRC suggested to the Board pursuant to such review.
- 3.12** The remuneration / compensation / commission etc. payable to MD & incentives to Employees under Employees Stock Option (ESOP) shall be subject to the prior/post approval of the Board and shareholders of the Company and Central Government, wherever required under the Company law or any rules made thereunder.

- 3.13** The remuneration/ Compensation/ Commission, etc. or any increments thereof shall be within the statutory limits wherever the same is required under the Company law or any rules made thereunder.
- 3.14** The NRC shall ensure that level and composition of remuneration is reasonable and sufficient, relationship of remuneration to performance is clear and meets appropriate performance benchmarks.
- 3.15** Where any insurance is taken by the Company on behalf of its Whole-time Director/ Managing Director/ KMPs or any other employees for indemnifying them against any liability, the premium paid on such insurance shall not be treated as part of the remuneration payable to any such personnel. Provided that if such person is proved to be guilty, the premium paid on such insurance shall be treated as part of the remuneration.
- 3.16** Remuneration to employees shall be subject to the HRM Policy of the Company.

4. Principles for Compensation

- 4.1** The Company shall keep the remuneration reasonable and based on the relevant factors such as adherence to statutory requirements, industry practices, key responsibility areas assigned and the achievement thereof. The increments shall usually be linked to their performance as well performance of the Company. The total compensation may comprise of fixed, and variable pay components aligned effectively with prudent risk taking to ensure that compensation is adjusted for all types of risks. The Company shall ensure that the compensation outcomes are symmetric with risk outcomes, compensation pay-outs are sensitive to the time horizon of the risks, and the mix of various forms of compensation are consistent with risk alignment.
- 4.2** The Company follows a well-defined policy for compensation. The Policy clearly links the performance with the total remuneration paid to an individual. This is shared at the start of the year with KMPs and members of Senior Management.
- 4.3** The annual performance management process of the company gets initiated at the start of the financial year with goal setting. At the end of the year, the individual is evaluated on the performance delivered basis individual, business/ function unit's and company's performance. In addition, the individual is also rated on leadership demonstrated during the year.
- 4.4** The compensation of KMPs and SMPs is periodically benchmarked with a basket of companies, including leading banks, to ensure it is in line with industry best practices and competitive, and to continue to attract best in class talent to the company.
- 4.5 Fixed Pay-** Fixed pay/ compensation will be determined based on size and scope of the job, trends in the market value of the job and the skills, experience and performance of the employee. Fixed compensation may include basic salary, HRA, special allowance, contribution to provident fund, gratuity etc. Monetary equivalent of benefits of non-monetary nature (such as free furnished house, use of company car, etc.) may also be part of fixed pay compensation.

4.6 Essential Elements of Variable Pays

4.6.1 Principles of Variable Pay

- (a) The proportion of Variable Pay in total compensation shall be commensurate with the role and prudent risk-taking profile of KMPs and SMPs. At higher levels of responsibility, the proportion of variable pay shall be higher.
- (b) The percentage distribution of total remuneration could vary basis roles and responsibility and performance in a given financial year.
- (c) The variable pay component of remuneration shall be paid to the KMPs and SMPs basis the final performance and leadership rating for the year.
- (d) There shall be proper balance between the cash and share-linked instruments in the variable pay compensation in case the variable pay contains share linked instruments as per the policy approved by the Board/ NRC.
- (e) The variable may be reduced to zero based on performance at an individual, business-unit and company-wide level. In order to do so, performance measures and their relation to remuneration packages shall be clearly defined at the beginning of the performance measurement period to ensure that the employees properly understand the incentive mechanism.

4.6.2 Deferral of Variable Pay

- (a) The RBI Guidelines has prescribed that a certain portion of variable pay, as decided by the Board of the company, may be deferred and this deferral arrangement may be made applicable for both cash and non-cash components of the variable pay. Also, deferral period for such an arrangement may be decided by the Board of the company.
- (b) Thus far, the Company did not have any separate variable pay for KMPs and SMPs.
- (c) Taking the RBI Guidelines into consideration, the Compensation Policy is being revised to introduce an additional component of variable pay with deferral/malus and clawback clauses effective from FY2023-24 onwards.
- (d) The payout of variable pay/ annual bonus is proposed to be deferred over 3 years post the year of performance as per the following schedule:

Grade	Variable Pay % of Annual Fixed Pay	Payout of Variable Pay in Year 1	Payout of Variable Pay in Year 2	Payout of Variable Pay in Year 3
KMP	20%	60%	25%	15%
GM	20%	60%	25%	15%
DGM	18%	60%	25%	15%
AGM	15%	60%	25%	15%
CM	12%	60%	25%	15%

Irrespective of the cadre of KMP, performance pay/variable pay, deferral, Malus & Clawback provisions will be as applicable to KMP. In respect of Senior Management (Chief Manager, Asst. General Manager, Deputy General Manager and General Manager as defined in Nomination Remuneration & HR policy of the Company) , performance pay/variable pay, deferral, Malus & Clawback provisions shall be as applicable to their respective cadre as per the said policy.

Present incentive, which is part of contract, if any, to be readjusted in line with the above schedule. Further, the vesting of deferred cash component of variable pay would continue as per schedule even after separation of the employee from the services of the company except in the event of such separation triggering Malus or Clawback conditions as defined below.

4.6.3 Compensation for Control and assurance function personnel

- (a) The goal setting and performance appraisal process of the Company as mentioned in Para 4.1 above ensures that KMPs and senior management engaged in financial control, risk management, compliance and internal audit have performance measures that are independent of the business areas they oversee.
- (b) The Risk Management Committee and Audit committee of the Board shall review their performance independently and advises on their performance which in turn may impact variable part of their compensation.

5. Provisions on Malus² and Clawback³ Provisions for KMPs and SMPs

- 5.1 As a **guiding principle** prior to any action being taken by the NRC under this provision, the NRC and the company will ensure due regard to the Principles of Natural Justice.
- 5.2 The deferred compensation may be subject to malus or clawback arrangements in the event of subdued or negative financial performance of the Company and/or the relevant line of business or employee misconduct in any year.
- 5.3 **Circumstances under which Malus and Clawback may be applied**
 - 5.3.1 Material breach of the Company's Code of Conduct, any Non-Disclosure Agreement, regulatory procedures, internal rules and regulations or any other such instance for which the NRC, in its discretion, deems it necessary to apply Malus or/ and Clawback provisions.
 - 5.3.2 Fraud, breach of trust, dishonesty, or wrongful disclosure by the employee of any confidential information.
 - 5.3.3 Wilful misinterpretation/ misreporting of financial performance of the Company.
 - 5.3.4 Any misconduct pertaining to moral turpitude, theft, misappropriation, corruption, forgery, embezzlement or of criminal nature.
 - 5.3.5 Non-disclosure of material conflict of interest by the employee or any misuse of official powers.
 - 5.3.6 An act of willful, reckless, grossly negligent conduct which is detrimental to the interest or reputation of the Company.
 - 5.3.7 Malus may also be applied in the situation of significant deterioration of financial or risk performance from one financial year to the next.

Application of Malus/ Clawback provisions

² **A malus arrangement shall permit the Company to prevent vesting of all or part of the amount of a deferred remuneration. However, a malus arrangement shall not reverse vesting after it has already occurred.**

³ **A clawback is a contractual agreement between the employee and the Company in which the employee agrees to return previously paid or vested remuneration to the Company under certain circumstances.**

- 5.3.8** The circumstances mentioned at Para 5.3 are to be considered by the NRC for application of Malus and Clawback where such events result in significant loss to the Company or its shareholders.
 - 5.3.9** The performance measures defined as part of goal setting process of the Company, business threshold metric and sustainable business strategy framework would form the primary considerations for evaluating the application of Malus.
 - 5.3.10** In this process, the NRC may duly take into consideration factors that were within control of the person, and/ or beyond reasonable control on account of conditions such as macro events, market conditions, industry performance, changes in legal/regulatory requirements, force majeure events like occurrence of natural disasters, pandemic, other socio-economic conditions etc.
 - 5.3.11** The NRC will review the requirement to invoke the Malus or Clawback provisions in the event one or more of the circumstances come to light. Such review shall aim to determine the involvement, accountability, severity and wilful nature of the act of the concerned person/s.
 - 5.3.12** Bonafide errors of judgment will not be subject to Malus provisions.
 - 5.3.13** The provision of a Malus arrangement would entail cancellation of deferred portion of variable pay. The NRC may decide to apply Malus on part, or all of the unpaid cash portion of variable pay basis level of involvement, proportionality and impact.
 - 5.3.14** The provision of Clawback arrangement would entail return of already paid variable pay in cash attributable to a given reference year to which circumstances triggering the provisions of Malus and Clawback are related.
 - 5.3.15** The NRC may decide to apply Clawback on part, or all of variable pay basis level of involvement, proportionality and impact.
 - 5.3.16** Malus/ clawback clause can be applied within a period of 4 years after the date of grant of Total Variable Pay.
- 5.4 Review of Malus or Clawback Provisions-** Circumstances that may trigger Malus or Clawback provisions will be reviewed periodically by the NRC.
